CHARACTERIZING ADIPOKINES, VISFATIN AND RESISTIN, AND DETERMINING THE CONTRIBUTION OF KINASE SIGNALING IN AN OBESITY-INDUCED LIVER CANCER PHENOTYPE

by

Candace Miethe, B.S.

A thesis submitted to the Graduate Council of Texas State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science with a Major in Human Nutrition May 2018

Committee Members:

Ramona Salcedo Price, Chair

Lesli Biediger-Friedman

Michelle Lane

COPYRIGHT

by

Candace Miethe

FAIR USE AND AUTHOR'S PERMISSION STATEMENT

Fair Use

This work is protected by the Copyright Laws of the United States (Public Law 94-553, section 107). Consistent with fair use as defined in the Copyright Laws, brief quotations from this material are allowed with proper acknowledgment. Use of this material for financial gain without the author's express written permission is not allowed.

Duplication Permission

As the copyright holder of this work I, Candace Miethe, authorize duplication of this work, in whole or in part, for educational or scholarly purposes only.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Price for welcoming me into the lab and allowing me the opportunity to do a thesis. You have been an exceptional mentor and have shown me constant support throughout this process. For that I will be forever grateful. You have given me the tools and confidence that I needed to not only succeed in this program but for whatever journey may follow. To Dr. Lane, thank you for believing in me and guiding me through this process. I appreciate all of your help, support, and encouragement. To Dr. Biediger, thank you for always taking the time to talk with me and having an encouraging word. You have been an outstanding professor and mentor. To my family, I cannot begin to thank you enough for always believing in me and supporting my dreams.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv		
LIST OF TABLES ix		
LIST OF FIGURESx		
CHAPTER		
I. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE1		
Liver Cancer1		
Liver Cancer and Obesity Link1		
Visfatin4		
Resistin5		
Kinase Signaling Pathways7		
Objectives8		
II. VISFATIN AND RESISTIN IN AN IN VITRO MODEL OF OBESITY- INDUCED INVASIVE LIVER CANCER9		
Abstract		
Introduction9		
Materials and Methods11		
Cell Lines11		
Serum Samples11		
Neutralizing Resistin and Visfatin in Human Sera12		
Cellular Proliferation		
Reactive Oxygen Species Assay13		
Oil Red O Staining13		

Invasion Assay	14
Elisa for MMP-9	14
Western Blot Analysis	15
Statistical Analysis	19
Results	19
The effect of adipocytokine depletion in serum-induced proliferation	19
The effect of visfatin and resistin depletion on lipogenesis	19
Visfatin and resistin depletion reduces ROS production	20
The effect of visfatin and resistin on MMP-9 secretion	20
Resistin suppresses OB-induced invasion in liver cancer cells	21
Visfatin and resistin signaling	21
Discussion	22
III. INHIBITION OF KINASE SIGNALING IN VISFATIN-INDUCED LIVER CANCER	32
Abstract	32
Introduction	32
Materials and Methods	34
Cell Culture and Reagents	34
Cellular Proliferation	34
Reactive Oxygen Species Assay	35
Oil Red O Staining	35
Invasion Assay	36
Elisa for MMP-9	36
Western Blot Analysis	37

Statistical Analysis	.41
Results	.41
The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibition on proliferation	.41
The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibition on lipogenesis	.42
The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors on ROS production	.42
The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibition on MMP-9 secretion	.42
PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors suppress liver cancer cell invasion	.43
Visfatin and resistin signaling	.43
Discussion	44
IV. INHIBITION OF KINASE SIGNALING IN RESISTIN-INDUCED LIVER CANCER	53
Abstract	53
Introduction	53
Materials and Methods	55
Cell Culture and Reagents	55
Cellular Proliferation	.55
Reactive Oxygen Species Assay	56
Oil Red O Staining	56
Invasion Assay	57
Elisa for MMP-9	.57
Lactate Dehydrogenase Activity	58
Western Blot Analysis	58
Statistical Analysis	62
Results	.62

	The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibition on proliferation	.62
	The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibition on lipogenesis	.62
	The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors on ROS production	.63
	PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors suppress the invasive capacity of liver cancer cells	.63
	The effect of resistin on LDH	.64
	The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibition on MMP-9 secretion	.64
	Resistin signaling	.64
Dise	cussion	.65
V. IMPLIC	CATIONS FOR FUTURE STUDIES	.76
REFERENCES	S	.79

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1. Summary of target proteins for western blot analysis	16
2. Summary of target proteins for western blot analysis	38
3. Summary of target proteins for western blot analysis	59

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1. The role of visfatin and resistin in cell viability	26
2. Visfatin, resistin and lipogenesis	27
3. Obesity promotes ROS production	28
4. Visfatin and resistin blockade suppresses obesity-induced MMP secretion	29
5. The differential effects of visfatin and resistin inhibition in obesity-induced invasion	30
6. The effects of neutralizing antibodies on protein expression	31
7. The role of visfatin in cell viability	47
8. The role of visfatin in lipogenesis in liver cancer cells	48
9. The differential effects of visfatin on ROS production	49
10. ERK inhibition suppresses visfatin-induced MMP secretion	50
11. The differential effects of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibition in visfatin-induced invasion	51
12. The effects of PD and LY on protein expression	52
13. Resistin promotes cell viability in SNU-449 cells	69
14. The role of resistin in lipogenesis in liver cancer cells	70
15. The role of Akt and ERK in resistin-associated ROS production	71
16. The differential effects of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibition in resistin-induced invasion	72
17. Changes in lactate dehydrogenase activity in liver cancer cells	73

18.	The differential effects of F	PI3K/Akt and ERK	suppression on M	MP secretion	74
19.	The effects of PD and LY of	on protein expressio	on		75

I. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Liver Cancer

Liver Cancer is the sixth most common cancer and the leading cause of cancer deaths worldwide.¹ More than 700,000 people are diagnosed with liver cancer each year throughout the world with 600,000 deaths each year.¹ Liver cancer is more common in sub-Saharan Africa and Southeast Asia with liver cancer being the most common type of cancer in these countries.¹ In the United States, the American Cancer Society estimates that approximately 40,710 new cases of liver cancer were diagnosed in 2017.¹ Of these new cases, 29,200 were male and 11,510 were female.¹ Also, approximately 28,290 of these newly diagnosed patients will die due to liver cancer.¹ Since 1980, liver cancer incidence has more than tripled and deaths have increased by almost 3% per year since $2000.^{1}$ Liver cancer is one of the most lethal cancers with a five year survival rate of 4-8%.² Unfortunately, signs and symptoms related to liver cancer do not appear until later stages leading to a high mortality rate.¹ Risk factors for liver cancer include gender (more common in males than females), race/ethnicity (more common in Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders), chronic viral hepatitis, cirrhosis, aflatoxins, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, heavy alcohol use and obesity.¹ The link between obesity and liver cancer is likely to be mediated by a state of chronic inflammation.²

Liver Cancer and Obesity Link

Obesity has become a public health concern with more than one third of adults being obese.^{2,3} Obesity can lead to liver diseases such as non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH).² NAFLD affects approximately 30% of the general population and 90% of morbidly obese individuals.⁴ NASH can lead to fibrosis, cirrhosis, and liver cancer if left untreated.² Low grade inflammation that is associated with obesity contributes to the progression from NAFLD to NASH and finally liver cancer.² Also, obesity in the presence of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) can lead to DNA damage and ultimately liver cancer.² In a large prospective mortality study, the relative risk of mortality from liver cancer was 1.68 times higher in women and 4.52 times higher in men with a BMI greater than 35 kg/m² compared to patients with normal BMI.⁴ Obesity along with low grade inflammation results in elevated plasma concentrations of insulin and insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), increased secretion of adipokines such as visfatin and resistin along with inflammatory cells including macrophages.²

Adipocytes in obese individuals go through hypertrophy due to excess fat accumulation which leads to the secretion of free fatty acids along with pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-6.² Obesity may increase cell proliferation, ROS production, lipogenesis, and promote the invasive capacity of liver cancer cells along with matrixmetalloproteinase-9.⁵ Also, according to the Warburg Effect, cancer cells choose aerobic glycolysis for glucose metabolism instead of oxidative phosphorylation.⁶ Also, certain cancer cells shift from using mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation to pyruvate reduced to lactate for energy. Cells get glucose from their microenvironment and secrete lactic acid to meet their energy needs.⁶ Further, an increase in lactate dehydrogenase, an enzyme that synthesizes lactate, is correlated with tumor burden and is thought to reflect the invasive potential of cancer cells.⁷ Activating invasion and metastasis processes along with evading growth suppressors are key hallmarks of cancer.⁸ Studies have shown

that cancer cells in the presence of obesity are able to evade these growth suppressors and sustain proliferation.^{5,8} HepG2 liver cancer cells exposed to obese sera had a 50% increase in proliferation compared to cells exposed to normal weight sera.⁵ Therefore, there is a need to understand obesity-associated hallmarks of cancers including sustained proliferative signaling, invasion and metastasis, enabling inflammation, and cellular energetics.

ROS causes DNA damage and destruction of liver cells.^{5,9} The production of reactive oxygen species can activate hepatic stellate cells which are characterized by increased production of the extracellular matrix and accelerated proliferation.¹⁰ ROS production has been shown to be 50% higher in liver cancer cells exposed to obese sera compared to normal weight sera.⁵ ROS production is a byproduct of cellular metabolism. Changes in lipid metabolism may lead to the progression of liver cancer.⁵ FASN enzyme catalyzes the de novo synthesis of long chain fatty acids and an increase in FAS has been shown in multiple tumor types.^{11,12} Increased de novo lipogenesis contributes to the initiation and progression of tumors.^{11,12} De novo lipogenesis may promote cancer progression due to an increase in cancer cell proliferation requiring the synthesis of lipids for generation of biological membranes.¹³ Lipid biosynthesis is induced as part of the anabolic metabolism of cancer cells.¹³ The production of these lipids may provide energy to cancer cells during times of nutrient depletion.¹³ Studies have shown that obese sera increases lipogenesis 45% more compared to normal weight sera.⁵ The link between obesity and invasive liver cancer may be partially due to the increase in expression of adipokines such as visfatin and resistin, which leads to a cascade of physiological changes in the liver. Visfatin and resistin are found in higher levels in obese individuals.

These data show the importance of further investigating the role of visfatin and resistin in inducing an invasive liver cancer phenotype.

Visfatin

Visfatin is found in the visceral adipose tissue and is commonly referred to as nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (Nampt) and pre-B-cell colony-enhancing factor (PBEF).¹⁴ Macrophages of visceral fat in obese individuals are a major source of visfatin production.¹⁴ Visfatin serves as a cytokine, growth factor and an enzyme.¹⁴ It also exhibits anti-apoptotic, proliferative, pro-inflammatory, pro-angiogenic and metastatic properties.¹⁴ Visfatin is also an insulin-mimetic but its function remains unclear.¹⁴ Studies have shown that visfatin is elevated in many cancers including obesity-associated malignancies.¹⁴ Elevated visfatin has been shown to be associated with a bad prognosis along with a higher tumor grade.¹⁴ Circulating visfatin along with adipocyte and macrophage-associated visfatin may impact pathways involved in the development of obesity and cancer by acting on glucose and lipid metabolism, insulin sensitivity, chronic inflammation and oxidative stress response.¹⁴ Visfatin may not only contribute to cancer promotion but also its progression and prognosis.¹⁴ It has been reported that visfatin is a very potent IL-6 inducer both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.¹⁴

Pathways that visfatin are known to be involved in include nuclear factor-kB, the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs), ERK¹/₂ and p38, phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase (PI3K), and the generation of reactive oxygen species.¹⁴ Visfatin has a role in metabolic, stress response and cellular bioenergetics specifically NAD synthesis.¹⁴ Visfatin is a key enzyme of the NAD pathway.¹⁴ NAD is formed from precursors such as

nicotinic acid, tryptophan, nicotinamide riboside or by the salvage pathway in which visfatin catalyzes the rate limiting step.¹⁴ Cancer cells have an increased demand for NAD due to an increase in proliferation and DNA repair rate.¹⁵ Visfatin is considered a potential target for anti-cancer therapies.¹⁵ During the development of hepatocellular carcinoma, AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) becomes dysregulated.¹⁵ In prostate and breast cancer cells, visfatin was shown to increase cellular proliferation but the use of a visfatin inhibitor had antitumor effects by inducing apopotosis.¹⁶ This suggests that visfatin is one of the adipocytokines that links obesity and tumorigenesis and could potentially be an effective target for the inhibition of obesity-related carcinogenesis.¹⁶ To date, there are no detailed studies that examine the relationship between visfatin and hepatocellular carcinomas in the context of obesity. We aim to further characterize visfatin and examine if inhibition of kinase signaling suppresses visfatin-induced liver cancer progression.

Resistin

Resistin was discovered in mice in 2001 and was named so because it resists insulin action.¹⁷ Initially, resistin was said to be a link between obesity, insulin resistance and diabetes.¹⁷ Studies have shown that resistin is an adipokine that represents an important link between obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance.¹⁸ Also, resistin has been associated with an increased risk of cancer.¹⁸ The expression of resistin was initially defined in adipocytes.¹⁷ Resistin is mainly located in mononuclear leukocytes, macrophages of adipose tissue, spleen, and bone marrow cells.^{17,18} Resistin's effects may be mediated through paracrine and endocrine modes.¹⁸The functional receptor for resistin has been identified as adenylyl cyclase-associated protein 1 (CAP1).^{18, 19} Resistin binds to CAP1 in monocytes and up-regulates intracellular cAMP concentration, PKA activity and NF-kβ.¹⁷ Overexpression of CAP1 in monocytes increases inflammation in adipose tissue and suppression of CAP1 has been shown to significantly reduce inflammation *in vitro* and *in vivo*.¹⁷ Resistin regulates glucose homeostasis, insulin resistance, and inflammation which all play pathogenic roles in obesity, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease.¹⁸ Also, resistin up-regulates the mRNA and protein expression of vascular endothelial growth factor receptors (VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2) along with matrix metalloproteinases.¹⁷ This is an indication that resistin may be responsible for promoting angiogenesis.¹⁷

In vivo studies indicate that infusion of resistin increases glucose production and impairs insulin sensitivity in the liver.²⁰ Also, phosphorylation of the enzyme AMPK increases the expression of glucose 6-phosphatase (G6Pase) and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK).²⁰ The human homolog of resistin only shares 59% amino acid homology with mouse resistin and the source of resistin differs between the two.²⁰ Previous studies have investigated the effects of resistin on the phosphorylation state of AMPK.²⁰ HepG2 cells were exposed to resistin and they found that resistin decreased Akt phosphorylation through an AMPK-independent mechanism suggesting that biological processes including metabolism, cell cycle regulation, and apoptosis become dysregulated leading to proliferation/anti-apoptosis, tumor progression, cellular differentiation, and other physiological changes promoting invasive liver cancer.²⁰ Reports of resistin and the phosphorylation of Akt are inconsistent. Lastly, resistin can also activate the ERK pathway by stimulating pro-inflammatory cytokines and causing

oxidative stress.¹⁷ Studies have shown that a specific p38 inhibitor blocked resistininduced ROS production.¹⁷

Kinase Signaling Pathways

Although it is known that visfatin and resistin are involved in kinase signaling pathways, the contribution of kinase signaling in visfatin and resistin-induced invasive liver cancer is less understood. Few studies have investigated visfatin and resistin mediated activation of kinase signaling with corresponding changes in cell function which may promote an invasive liver cancer phenotype. Akt and ERK may be two important pathways in visfatin or resistin-induced liver cancer progression.

Previous studies have shown that the ERK signaling pathway is involved in promoting cell proliferation, migration, survival along with tumor progression.²¹ For the ERK pathway to be activated, first there is membrane receptor activation.²¹ Then, RAS is recruited by adaptor proteins.²¹ There are a series of phosphorylation steps to amplify the signal (Raf to MEK and finally ERK).²¹ There are over 100 targets downstream of ERK, many of them being transcription factors.²¹ Altered levels of these transcription factors following ERK activation can lead to a change in expression levels of genes involved in cell cycle progression.²¹ Studies have shown that the ERK pathway stimulates proinflammatory cytokines and adipokines, visfatin and resistin, causing oxidative stress¹⁷ By inhibiting the ERK pathway, more will be known about the effect of this inhibition on visfatin along with resistin and overall liver cancer progression. Studies have shown crosstalk between the ERK and Akt pathways.²¹

The Akt pathway is another important pathway involved in liver cancer. Akt is downstream of PI3K and when PI3K is activated, Akt is recruited to the plasma membrane.²¹ Phosphoinositide dependent kinase 1 (PDK1) phosphorylates residues in the activation loop of Akt to initiate kinase activity.²¹ The Akt pathway is known to be upregulated in various carcinoma cell lines.²¹ In summary, these data suggest that visfatin and resistin contribute significantly in promoting an invasive liver cancer phenotype. Inhibition of the kinase signaling pathways would then potentially suppress visfatin and resistin-induced liver cancer progression.

Objectives

The aim of this research project was two-fold to 1) determine the contribution of visfatin and resistin in an *in vitro* model of obesity-induced liver cancer and 2) determine if the inhibition of kinase signaling suppresses visfatin or resistin-induced liver cancer progression. We hypothesize that adding a neutralizing antibody targeting visfatin and resistin will reduce the physiological impact of obesity on invasive liver cancer. Also, the inhibition of Akt and the ERK pathway will suppress visfatin and resistin induced liver cancer progression.

II. VISFATIN AND RESISTIN IN AN IN VITRO MODEL OF OBESITY-INDUCED INVASIVE LIVER CANCER

Abstract

Obesity is associated with the development and progression of liver disease to hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Obesity is characterized not only by low grade inflammation but elevated plasma concentrations of insulin and insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), visfatin, and resistin. Obesity and liver cancer promote physiological changes related to cellular proliferation, ROS, MMP section, invasion, and lipid accumulation. Adipokines, visfatin and resistin, have been shown to promote liver cancer incidence and progression. Studies have yet to determine the role of visfatin and resistin in an obesityinduced liver cancer phenotype. Using an *in vitro* model, sera from obese (OB) or normal weight (NW) males (based on BMI) were used to determine the efficacy of neutralizing antibodies of visfatin and resistin in reducing an obesity-induced liver cancer phenotype. HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were exposed to OB and NW \pm neutralizing antibodies for visfatin or resistin. The neutralizing antibodies suppressed obesity-induced growth, invasion, and MMP secretion. These physiological changes corresponded with a decrease in phosphorylated ERK and Akt along with CAP1 and β -catenin. We describe the effect of neutralizing antibodies on OB and NW sera to determine the contribution of visfatin and resistin in obesity-induced invasive liver cancer phenotype.

Introduction

Liver Cancer is the sixth most common cancer and the leading cause of cancer deaths worldwide.^{1,22,23} In 2012, approximately 23,000 people died from liver cancer in the United States, which is a 56% increase in deaths since 2003.¹ New liver cancer cases

rose 38% from 2003-2012.¹ This rise in liver cancer incidence coincides with the current obesity trend with one third of adults being obese.^{3,24} An increase in BMI is an important risk factor in the development of liver cancer.²⁵ Studies from Denmark and Italy both showed a 2-fold increase in liver cancer incidence in obese individuals.^{13,25} A study conducted in the United States of more than 900,000 adults, showed that the risk of death from HCC was 2-fold higher in men with a BMI of 30-34.9 and 4.5 times higher in men with a BMI greater than 35.²⁵ Recently, it has been shown that the second most common cause of HCC is fatty liver disease which is associated with obesity.²⁵ It is expected in the future that fatty liver disease will account for over one third of HCC cases.²⁵ Obese individuals have been shown to have higher levels of serum visfatin and resistin compared to normal weight individuals but the role of visfatin and resistin in fatty liver disease and liver tumorigenesis is largely unknown.⁵

Preliminary studies from our laboratory have demonstrated that obesity promotes an invasive liver cancer phenotype evidenced by increased physiological and molecular changes related to viability, invasion, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and matrix metallopeptidase 9 (MMP-9) secretion.⁵ Previous studies have shown that visfatin strongly induces proliferation in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cells and acts as a growth factor in HCC cells.¹⁶ Additionally, visfatin is one of the key adipocytokines that links obesity and the progression of HCCs.¹⁶ Studies have also shown that resistin can act directly on cancer cells by stimulating proliferation and migration, promoting cells adhesion, and altering the tumor microenvironment.¹⁸ While previous studies have shown that obesity and high levels of pro-tumorigenic adipokines, visfatin and resistin, promote liver cancer incidence and progression, the mechanism through which these adipokines

promote liver cancer progression has not been fully elucidated.^{16,18} Therefore, the objective of this study is to determine the contribution of visfatin and resistin in obesity-induced invasive liver cancer phenotype. We hypothesize that adding a neutralizing antibody targeting visfatin and resistin will reduce the physiological impact of obesity on invasive liver cancer.

Materials and Methods

Cell Lines

Human liver cancer cells (HepG2) were purchased from the American Type Tissue Culture Collection (ATCC) (Rockville, MD). Cells were cultured in DMEM containing penicillin and streptomycin plus 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). SNU-449 liver cancer cells were purchased from ATCC. Cells were cultured in RPMI containing penicillin and streptomycin plus 10% FBS. Cells were maintained at 37°C in a 5% (v/v) CO₂ humidified incubator.

Serum Samples

An *in vitro* model using 5% pooled male human sera from OB (BMI > 30 kg/m^2) and NW (BMI< 25 kg/m^2) individuals (n=5 for each group). Sera was acquired from Equitech Enterprise Inc. (Kerrville, TX), and individuals were screened to ensure they did not have diseases that would affect results including HIV, hepatitis, diabetes, or cancer.

Neutralizing Resistin and Visfatin in Human Sera

An ELISA assay was used to measure resistin levels in human sera. The values obtained from the ELISA assay were taken into consideration when determining the concentration of resistin antibodies. The obese serum contained 2.46 ng/ml of resistin and the normal weight BMI category contained 0.8 ng/ml of resistin (data not shown). Visfatin concentration was determined based on levels of visfatin in obese individuals. Neutralizing antibodies can be used in concentrations ranging from 1ug/ml-10ug/ml. Ten ug/ml of neutralizing antibodies was selected to ensure adequate inhibition of visfatin and resistin in the obese serum which would contain the highest amounts of these adipocytokines. Neutralizing antibodies were incubated with OB and NW weight sera for 1 hour prior to *in vitro* experiments.

Cellular Proliferation

Cellular proliferation was assessed by MTT dye conversion to formazan and analyzed in a plate reader at 540nm. 1 X 10^4 cells were seeded per well in a 96-well plate overnight. After 24 hours, cells were washed with PBS and treated with one of the following experimental conditions: SFM, SFM +5% OB sera, SFM + 5% OB sera + visfatin antibody, SFM + OB sera + resistin antibody, SFM + 5% NW sera, SFM + 5% NW sera + visfatin antibody, SFM + 5% NW sera + resistin antibody for 72 h. After 72 h, 20 µl of MTT reagent (5 mg/ml) was added to each well. After 2 hours, MTT reagent was aspirated and 100 µl of DMSO was added to each well and shaken for 10 minutes. Absorbance was measured using Cytation 5.

Reactive Oxygen Species Assay

Intracellular levels reactive oxygen species (ROS) were assessed using a cellpermeable DCFH-DA probe. HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were seeded in a dark, clear bottom 96-well microplate. On day 2 cells were exposed to the following experimental conditions: SFM, SFM +5% OB sera, SFM + 5% OB sera + visfatin antibody, SFM + OB sera + resistin antibody, SFM + 5% NW sera, SFM + 5% NW sera + visfatin antibody, SFM + 5% NW sera + resistin antibody. On day 3, the media was removed, and cells were washed with 1X buffer, and incubated for 45 minutes in 1X buffer containing 25 μ M DCFDA at 37°C. Fluorescent intensity was measured at excitation wavelength 485 nm and emission wavelength 529 nm with Cytation 5.

Oil Red O Staining

Approximately 30,000 HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were seeded in a 24-well plate. After 24 hours, cells were washed with PBS and treated with one of the following conditions: SFM, SFM +5% OB sera, SFM + 5% OB sera + visfatin antibody, SFM + OB sera + resistin antibody, SFM + 5% NW sera, SFM + 5% NW sera + visfatin antibody, SFM + 5% NW sera + resistin antibody. After 48 hours, the media was removed, washed with PBS, fixed for 10 min with 10% formalin, and washed with 60% isopropanol. Cells were stained with filtered oil red O solution for 10 minutes. Lipid droplets were imaged using Cytation 5 (Winooski, VT) at 20X magnification. Lipid droplets were eluted and quantified using 100% isopropanol. Absorbance was measured at 500 nm with Cytation 5.

Invasion Assay

The Corning BioCoat Matrigel Invasion Chamber assay was utilized to assess if the neutralizing antibodies targeting visfatin and resistin decreased the invasive capacity of HepG2 and SNU-449 cells.²⁶ The matrigel chamber was hydrated in serum free media for 2 hours prior to seeding. After the chambers were rehydrated, cells were seeded on the upper side of the chamber at 80,000 cells per well in a 24-well plate with one of the following treatments: SFM, SFM +5% OB sera, SFM + 5% OB sera + visfatin antibody, SFM + OB sera + resistin antibody, SFM + 5% NW sera, SFM + 5% NW sera + visfatin antibody, SFM + 5% NW sera + resistin antibody. The chemoattractant, 10% FBS, was added to the well below the chamber. After 48 hours cells were stained with crystal violet, and images were captured using Cytation 5. After imaging, crystal violet was dissolved using a distain solution (methanol, acetic acid, and water), and absorbance was measured with the Cytation 5 microplate reader. Cell counts were conducted after 48 hours and there were no statistical differences observed between treatment groups (data not shown).

ELISA for MMP-9

To determine MMP-9 secretion from cells, HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were exposed to the experimental conditions for 1 hour. After 1 hour, cells were washed with PBS and SFM was added to each well to capture MMP-9 secretion. The ThermoFisher (Waltham, MA) ELISA kit was used to measure MMP-9 secretion.²⁷

Western Blot Analysis

HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were plated at 400,000 cells per well in a 6-well plate. After 24 hours, the cells were serum starved for six hours. The cells were then exposed to their respective experimental conditions for 15 minutes. After the treatment, cells were harvested using lysis buffer (5 ml glycerol, 3.14 ml TRIS 1M pH 6.8, 5 ml 10% SDS, 36.86 ml ddH₂O) and quantified using Pierce BCA protein assay kit.²⁸ Fifty μ g of protein lysate was electrophoresed through a 10% gel (4 ml H₂O, 3.3 ml 30% acrylamide mix, 2.5 ml 1.5 M TRIS, 0.1 ml 10% SDS, 0.1 ml 10% ammonium persulfate (APS), 8 μ l TEMED along with the stacking gel (3.4 ml ddH₂O, 0.83 ml 30% acrylamide mix, 0.63 ml 1.0 M TRIS, 0.05 ml 10% SDS, 0.05 ml 10% APS and 6 μ l TEMED). It was then transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane and blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin for 45 minutes. After measuring phosphorylated proteins, blots were stripped with Restore Plus western blot stripping buffer before measuring total levels of protein. Target proteins for western blot analysis are listed in Table 1.

Table 1. Summary of target proteins for western blot analysis

Primary Antibody	Secondary Antibody
β-catenin	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
Dilution: 1:1000	linked whole antibody from donkey Dilution: 1:2500
Incubation time: overnight	Incubation time: 45 minutes
Manufacturer: Thermo Fisher Scientific, catalogue #71-2700, Waltham, MA	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
Phospho-ERK	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
Dilution: 1:2000	linked whole antibody from donkey
Incubation time: overnight	Incubation time: 45 minutes Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology, catalogue #4370, Danvers, MA	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
Total-ERK	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
Dilution: 1:1000	linked whole antibody from donkey
Incubation time: 1 hour	Dilution: 1:2500
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology, catalogue #9102, Danvers, MA	Incubation time: 45 minutes Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA

Table 1 Continued. Summary of target proteins for western blot analysis		
Phospho-Akt	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase	
Dilution: 1:1000	linked whole antibody from donkey	
	Dilution: 1:2500	
Incubation time: overnight	Incubation time: 45 minutes	
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited	
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology,	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA	
catalogue #9271, Danvers, MA		
	ECI Anti Dabbit I-C, hannan diak manaridara	
Dilution: 1:1000	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, norseradish peroxidase	
	linked whole antibody from donkey	
	Dilution: 1:2500	
Incubation time: 1 hour	Incubation time: 45 minutes	
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited	
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology,	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA	
catalogue #4691, Danvers, MA		
R actin	ECI Anti Dabbit IgC horseredich perovideoa	
p-actin	ECL Anti-Rabbit 1gG, norseradish peroxidase	
Dilution: 1:1000	linked whole antibody from donkey	
	Dilution: 1:2500	
Incubation time: 1 hour	Incubation time: 45 minutes	
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology,	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited	
catalogue #4967, Danvers, MA	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA	

Table 1 Continued. Summary of target proteins for western blot analysis		
CAP1	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase	
Dilution 1.250	linked whole antibody from donkey	
	Dilution: 1:1250	
Incubation time: overnight	Incubation time: 45 minutes	
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited	
Manufacturer: Thermo Fisher Scientific, catalogue	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA	
#PA5-56354, Waltham, MA		

Statistical Analysis

Values are presented as mean \pm s.e. of the mean. Experiments were repeated three times. Statistical analyses were performed between treatment groups except as noted. For all tests, GraphPad Prism 7.0 software was used (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA), and P<0.05 was considered statistically significant. Results were compared using either Mann-Whitney U Test or Student's T Test.

Results

The effect of adipocytokine depletion in serum-induced proliferation

To assess cell viability, HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were exposed to serum with or without a neutralizing antibody for visfatin and resistin for 72 hours. HepG2 cells exposed to OB serum increased proliferation compared to NW but did not reach statistical significance (Figure 1A). SNU-449 cells exposed to OB serum increased proliferation by 24% when compared to NW (p<0.05) (Figure 1B). In both cell lines, depleting OB and NW serum of visfatin and resistin did not reduce cell proliferation. These data suggest that in the short-term, visfatin and resistin do not contribute to obesity-induced proliferation.

The effect of visfatin and resistin depletion on lipogenesis

Lipid accumulation in liver cells provides the necessary biomolecules for cell growth. HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were exposed to serum with or without antibodies for visfatin and resistin for 48 hours. In both cell lines, there was a trend for OB to increase lipogenesis compared to NW, but these findings were not statistically significant (Figure 2A/B). Further, depleting OB serum of visfatin and resistin reduced lipogenesis to levels similar to that of NW but was not statistically significant. These results suggest that other factors in OB serum may be contributing to lipogenesis to a greater degree than visfatin or resistin.

Visfatin and resistin depletion reduces ROS production

ROS induced DNA damage can lead to mutations that promote initiation and progression of liver cancer. HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were exposed to serum with or without neutralizing antibodies for 24 hours. In HepG2 cells, OB serum increased proliferation by 14% compared to control (p<0.05) (Figure 3A). Depleting the serum of visfatin or resistin reduced ROS production to levels similar to that of cells exposed to NW serum, 15% and 12%, respectively (p<0.05). No differences in ROS production were observed in cells exposed to NW serum with or without depletion of visfatin or resistin. OB sera increased ROS production by 10% compared to SNU-449 cells exposed to NW sera. In SNU-449 cells, resistin depletion decreased ROS production by 10% (p<0.05) while no differences were observed in OB plus visfatin antibody (Figure 3B). Further, visfatin or resistin depletion had no effect on cells exposed to NW serum.

The effect of visfatin and resistin on MMP-9 secretion

Matrix metalloproteinase-9 may promote the invasive capacity of liver cancer cells. The ELISA assay was used to determine the effect of neutralizing antibodies on secretion of MMP. The trend for both HepG2 and SNU-449 cells is almost identical (Figure 4A/B). OB sera increased MMP-9 secretion significantly compared to control (p<0.05). The addition of the neutralizing antibodies decreased MMP-9 secretion to

levels similar to that of NW. These data suggest that visfatin and resistin contribute to obesity-induced MMP secretion in liver cancer cells.

Resistin suppresses OB-induced invasion in liver cancer cells

Hormones and adipocytokines may play a role in metastasis of liver cancer cells. Matrigel chambers were used to assess the invasive capacity of liver cancer cells exposed to OB or NW serum with or without visfatin or resistin depletion. In HepG2 cells, OB sera increased invasion 2-fold compared to NW (p<0.05) (Figure 5A). Depleting OB sera of resistin decreased invasion 2-fold (p<0.05). The invasive capacity of HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were similar across all groups exposed to NW sera with or without visfatin or resistin. Neutralizing antibodies for visfatin or resistin suppressed OB-induced invasion by 40% and 30%, respectively (p<0.05) (Figure 5B). These results demonstrate that resistin contributes to OB-induced invasion in HepG2 cells. In addition, visfatin and resistin are important for OB-induced invasion in SNU-449 cells.

Visfatin and resistin signaling

The ERK and Akt signaling pathways undergo mutations in a cancerous environment to promote cancer progression and metastasis. These two proteins were measured to confirm that they are involved and active in liver cancer. The functional receptor for resistin is CAP1 and β -catenin serves a regulator of cell adhesion and gene transcription. HepG2 and SNU-449 cells exposed to OB sera increased phosphorylation of ERK compared to cells exposed to NW sera. Depleting the OB sera with a neutralizing antibody for visfatin did not decrease OB-induced phospho-ERK in HepG2 and SNU-449 cells. The resistin antibody slightly decreased OB-induced phospho-ERK. In HepG2 and SNU-449 cells, OB sera increased phosphorylation of Akt. Visfatin and resistin inhibition decreased OB-induced activation of Akt in HepG2 cells but not SNU-449 cells. CAP1 and β -catenin protein levels were not differentially affected by any of the experimental conditions (Figure 6).

Discussion

Previous reports have shown that obese serum has high levels of visfatin and resistin compared to normal weight serum.⁵ The link between obesity and invasive liver cancer may be partially due to the increase in expression of adipokines such as visfatin and resistin, which leads to a cascade of physiological changes in the liver such as cellular proliferation, ROS, MMP, invasion, and lipogenesis. Other studies have shown that visfatin and resistin are elevated in a variety of cancers and diseases.^{29,30,31} To our knowledge, there are no studies that examine the role of visfatin and resistin in obesity-induced liver cancer phenotype. Additional research would aid in understanding the obesity and liver cancer link.

The results from this *in vitro* study establish that visfatin and resistin are important adipocytokines in obesity-induced liver cancer. Cellular proliferation was assessed because it is important in the context of not only cancer development but also cancer progression.³² We found that both HepG2 and SNU-449 liver cancer cells exposed to OB serum increased proliferation compared to NW. Previous studies have shown that OB sera promotes proliferation compared to NW sera.⁵ Also, the depletion of visfatin and resistin in OB and NW serum did not reduce cellular proliferation. We did not observe

differences with the neutralizing antibodies, but this may indicate that there are other factors in the serum responsible for promoting cellular proliferation.

One of the key hallmarks of cancer is an increase in lipogenesis.³³ Tumor cells synthesize approximately 95% of fatty acids de novo despite sufficient lipid supply.³³ The activation of fatty acid synthesis may be required for tumor survival.³³ We found that OB serum increased lipogenesis compared to NW serum in both HepG2 and SNU-449 cells. Also, depleting the OB serum of visfatin and resistin reduced lipogenesis to levels similar to that of NW. Other studies have found that obesity induces lipogenesis.³⁴ Although we saw a trend for OB to increase lipogenesis compared to NW it was not statistically significant. There may be a shift from lipogenesis, lipid accumulation, to lipolysis, lipid breakdown. It has been suggested that tumors may promote intracellular lipolysis in adipose tissue but the exact mechanism remains unclear.³³ However, lipolysis was not measured in this study.

Cancer cells have an increase in the production of reactive oxygen species due to oncogenic stimulation, increased metabolic activity, and mitochondrial malfunction.³⁵ This increase in ROS leads to DNA damage and promotes genetic instability.³⁵ This study shows that in HepG2 cells OB serum increased ROS production and the addition of the neutralizing antibodies reduced ROS production similar to that of cells exposed to NW serum. In the SNU-449 cells, OB sera increased ROS production and the addition of only the resistin antibody to the OB sera reduced ROS production.

Tumor cells secrete matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) which are extracellular matrix-degrading enzymes.^{36,37,38} Studies have shown that an increase in MMP-9

secretion leads to an increase in invasion and metastasis.^{39,40} HepG2 and SNU-449 cells exposed to OB sera had a significant increase in MMP-9 secretion compared to control and the addition of neutralizing antibodies decreased secretion similar to that of NW. MMP-9 and obesity promoted the invasive capacity of liver cancer cells. HepG2 cells exposed to OB sera had a robust increase in invasive capacity compared to control. Also, the addition of the neutralizing antibodies led to a significant decrease in invasive capacity. This same trend continues with the SNU-449 cells. Based on these results, we can conclude that visfatin and resistin play an important role in obesity-induced invasion.

As expected, OB sera increased phosphorylation of Akt and ERK compared to NW sera in HepG2 and SNU-449 cells. Other studies have also shown increased levels of ERK in the presence of obesity.⁵ The neutralizing antibody for visfatin did not decrease OB-induced phospho-ERK and there was only a slight reduction in the presence of the resistin antibody. CAP1 and β -catenin protein levels were not affected by any of the experimental conditions. This indicates that CAP1 may need a longer time point exposed to experimental conditions. To properly assess β -catenin, one may need to visualize localization and not total levels of protein. In the future, β -catenin should be assessed by subcellular fractionation.

Collectively, visfatin and resistin play an important role in promoting an obesityinduced liver cancer phenotype by mediating proliferation, lipogenesis, ROS, MMP, and invasion. The limitations of this study include the study design being correlative but necessary to warrant future mechanistic research. Also, there are other growth factors present in the serum that may be contributing to the physiological parameters assessed other than visfatin or resistin. Using serum is also a strength of the study because specific

targets can be analyzed, and other factors can be eliminated. Another strength of this study is that we are addressing a timely issue with high prevalence of obesity and increasing incidence of liver cancer. Future studies aim to investigate the mechanism through which visfatin and resistin are promoting an invasive phenotype. Two potential targets include STAT3 and NF-kB. Studies have suggested that activation of NF-kB or STAT3 can promote invasion and overall metastasis. Therefore, future studies can determine if visfatin or resistin mediate their effects through STAT3 or NF-kB activation.




Different letters indicate significant differences between experimental conditions,

P < 0.05.







significant differences between experimental conditions, P < 0.05.



Figure 6. The effects of neutralizing antibodies on protein expression. HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were cultured in experimental conditions for 15 minutes. Western blot analysis was carried out with antiphospho-ERK, anti-ERK, antiphospho-Akt, anti-Akt, anti-CAP1, anti- β -catenin, and anti-actin.

III. INHIBITION OF KINASE SIGNALING IN VISFATIN-INDUCED LIVER CANCER

Abstract

Visfatin is found in the visceral adipose tissue and is commonly referred to as nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (Nampt).¹⁶ Visfatin has anti-apoptotic, proliferative, pro-inflammatory, pro-angiogenic, and metastatic properities.¹⁶ Pathways that visfatin are known to be involved include but are not limited to mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) and extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK).¹⁶ The ERK pathway promotes cellular proliferation, migration, survival of cancer cells, and tumor progression.⁴¹ The Akt pathway is known to be up-regulated in many cancers including liver cancer.⁴¹ Studies have yet to determine whether inhibition of kinase signaling will suppress visfatin-induced liver cancer progression. Using an in vitro model, HepG2 and SNU-449 liver cancer cells were exposed to visfatin \pm ERK, PI3K/Akt, or both inhibitors. The following physiological parameters were assessed: cellular proliferation, ROS, lipogenesis, invasion, and MMP secretion. The inhibition of kinase signaling suppressed most of these parameters. These physiological changes corresponded with a decrease in phosphorylated Akt and ERK, β -catenin, and FASN. We describe the effect of Akt and ERK inhibitors to determine if blocking these pathways suppress visfatin-induced liver cancer progression.

Introduction

Over the past two decades the death rate from cancer has decreased by 23%.¹ Although there is an overall reduction in cancer incidence and death, some cancers are seeing an increase.¹ Liver cancer incidence has more than tripled in the past 35 years and deaths have increased by almost 3% per year since 2000.¹ The increase in liver cancer incidence coincidences with the current U.S. obesity trend.^{3,24} Obese individuals have excessive fat stores in which adipocytokines are located. Macrophages of visceral fat are a major source of the production of the adipocytokine visfatin.¹⁶ Visfatin functions as a cytokine, growth factor, and an enzyme along with exhibiting anti-apoptotic, proliferative, pro-inflammatory, pro-angiogenic, and metastatic properties.¹⁶ This adipocytokine has been shown to be essential in NAD production.⁴² Visfatin also acts on glucose metabolism, lipid metabolism and insulin sensitivity which may lead to the promotion and progression of liver cancer.¹⁶

Previous research has shown that phosphorylation of Akt and ERK were elevated by treatment with visfatin.⁴³ The Akt pathway is activated by phosphorylation and induces cell proliferation and survival of cancer cells.⁴³ The ERK pathway is also activated through phosphorylation in response to numerous growth factors.⁴³ Additionally, visfatin has been shown to induce proliferation in cancer cells but this effect was repressed when Akt and ERK inhibitors were added.^{20,43} The effect of inhibiting ERK and Akt signaling on visfatin-induced liver cancer progression will be assessed. These kinase signaling pathways have been shown to promote cell proliferation, migration, survival along with tumor progression, ROS production and invasion.^{5,21} Studies have shown that these kinase signaling pathways are involved in various cancers including liver cancer.^{5,14,15,16,21}We expect that the inhibition of kinase signaling pathways will suppress adipocytokine-induced liver cancer progression which will be

seen by a decrease in physiological parameters associated with cellular proliferation, ROS, lipogenesis and invasion.

Materials and Methods

Cell Culture and Reagents

Human liver cancer cells (HepG2) were purchased from the American Type Tissue Culture Collection (ATCC) (Rockville, MD). Cells were cultured in DMEM containing penicillin and streptomycin plus 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). SNU-449 liver cancer cells were purchased from ATCC. Cells were cultured in RPMI containing penicillin and streptomycin plus 10% FBS. Cells were maintained at 37° C in a 5% (v/v) CO₂ humidified incubator. Cells were treated with 10 µM PI3K inhibitor ly290004 (LY) (Sigma Aldrich) and 10 µM ERK inhibitor PD98059 (PD) (Cell Signaling) 1 hour prior to the addition of 50 ng/ml visfatin. The concentrations of the PI3K and ERK inhibitors were selected based on the previous literature with the use of these inhibitors in human cancer cells.^{32,44,45} The concentration of visfatin was selected based on previous studies that measured visfatin levels in obese or diabetic individuals.^{46,47,48} The intention of using these concentrations is to closely recapitulate the physiological levels observed in obese individuals.

Cellular Proliferation

Cellular proliferation was assessed by MTT dye conversion to formazan and analyzed in a plate reader at 540nm. 1 X 10^4 cells were seeded per well in a 96-well plate overnight. After 24 hours, cells were washed with PBS and treated with one of the following experimental conditions: 2.5% charcoal stripped media + DMSO (vehicle

control), 2.5 % charcoal stripped media + visfatin, 2.5% charcoal stripped media + visfatin + PI3K inhibitor (LY), 2.5% charcoal stripped media + visfatin + ERK inhibitor (PD) , and 2.5% charcoal stripped media + visfatin + LY + PD for72 h. Charcoal stripped media was selected because liver cancer cells grow too quickly in complete media. After 72 h, 20 μ l of MTT reagent (5 mg/ml) was added to each well. After 2 hours, MTT reagent was aspirated and 100 μ l of DMSO was added to each well and shaken for 10 minutes. Absorbance was measured using Cytation 5.

Reactive Oxygen Species Assay

Intracellular levels reactive oxygen species (ROS) were assessed using a cellpermeable DCFH-DA probe. HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were seeded in a dark, clear bottom 96-well microplate. On day 2 cells were exposed to the following experimental conditions: SFM + 5% FBS + DMSO (vehicle control), SFM + 5% FBS +visfatin, SFM + 5% FBS + visfatin + LY, SFM + 5% FBS + visfatin + PD, SFM+5% FBS + visfatin + LY + PD. On day 3, the media was removed, and cells were washed with 1X buffer, and incubated for 45 minutes in 1X buffer containing 25 μ M DCFDA at 37°C. Fluorescent intensity was measured at excitation wavelength 485 nm and emission wavelength 529 nm with Cytation 5.

Oil Red O Staining

Approximately 30,000 HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were seeded in a 24-well plate. After 24 hours, cells were washed with PBS and treated with one of the following conditions: SFM + 5% FBS + DMSO (vehicle control), SFM + 5% FBS +visfatin, SFM + 5% FBS + visfatin + LY, SFM + 5% FBS + visfatin + PD, SFM+5% FBS + visfatin + LY + PD. After 48 hours, the media was removed, washed with PBS, fixed for 10 min with 10% formalin, and washed with 60% isopropanol. Cells were stained with filtered oil red O solution for 10 minutes. Lipid droplets were imaged using Cytation 5 (Winooski, VT) at 20X magnification. Lipid droplets were eluted and quantified using 100% isopropanol. Absorbance was measured at 500 nm with Cytation 5.

Invasion Assay

The Corning BioCoat Matrigel Invasion Chamber assay was utilized to assess if the neutralizing antibodies targeting visfatin and resistin decrease the invasive capacity of the HepG2 and SNU-449 cells.²⁶ The matrigel chamber was hydrated in serum free media for 2 hours prior to seeding. After the chambers were rehydrated, cells were seeded on the upper side of the chamber at 80,000 cells per well in a 24-well plate with one of the following treatments: SFM + 5% FBS + DMSO (vehicle control), SFM + 5% FBS +visfatin, SFM + 5% FBS + visfatin + LY, SFM + 5% FBS + visfatin + PD, SFM+5% FBS + visfatin + LY + PD. The chemoattractant, 10% FBS, was added to the well below the chamber. After 48 hours cells were stained with crystal violet, and images were captured using Cytation 5. After imaging, crystal violet was dissolved using a distain solution (methanol, acetic acid, and water), and absorbance was measured with the Cytation 5 microplate reader. Cell counts were conducted after 48 hours and there were no statistical differences observed between treatment groups (data not shown).

ELISA for MMP-9

To determine MMP-9 secretion from cells, HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were exposed to the experimental conditions for 1 hour. After 1 hour, cells were washed with PBS and SFM was added to each well to capture MMP-9 secretion. The ThermoFisher (Waltham, MA) ELISA kit was used to measure MMP-9 secretion.²⁷

Western Blot Analysis

HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were plated at 400,000 cells per well in a 6-well plate. After 24 hours, the cells were serum starved for six hours. The cells were then exposed to their respective experimental conditions for 15 minutes. After the treatment, cells were harvested using lysis buffer (5 ml glycerol, 3.14 ml TRIS 1M pH 6.8, 5 ml 10% SDS, 36.86 ml ddH₂O) and quantified using Pierce BCA protein assay kit.²⁸ Fifty μ g of protein lysate was electrophoresed through a 10% gel (4 ml H₂O, 3.3 ml 30% acrylamide mix, 2.5 ml 1.5 M TRIS, 0.1 ml 10% SDS, 0.1 ml 10% ammonium persulfate (APS), 8 μ l TEMED along with the stacking gel (3.4 ml ddH₂O, 0.83 ml 30% acrylamide mix, 0.63 ml 1.0 M TRIS, 0.05 ml 10% SDS, 0.05 ml 10% APS and 6 μ l TEMED). It was then transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane and blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin for 45 minutes. After measuring phosphorylated proteins, blots were stripped with Restore Plus western blot stripping buffer before measuring total levels of protein. Target proteins for western blot analysis are listed in Table 2.

Table 2. Summary of target proteins for western blot analysis

Primary Antibody	Secondary Antibody
FASN (C.60.10)	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
D'1 (1	linked whole antibody from donkey
Dilution: 1:1000	Dilution: 1:2500
	Dilution: 1:2500
Incubation time: 1 hour	Incubation time: 45 minutes
Manufacturer: Thermo Fisher Scientific, catalogue	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
Wandracturer. Thermo Tisher Scientific, catalogue	
#MA5-14887, Waltham, MA	catalogue #INA934V, Pittsburg, PA
ß astanin	ECI Anti Babbit IcC, horseredich perovidese
	ECL Anti-Kabbit igG, noiseradisii peroxidase
	linked whole antibody from donkey
Dilution: 1:1000	
	Dilution: 1:2500
Incubation time: overnight	Incubation time: 45 minutes
	incubation time. To initiates
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
Manufacturer: Thermo Fisher Scientific, catalogue	
	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
#71-2700, Waltham, MA	
Phospho-ERK	FCI Anti-Rabbit IgG horseradish perovidase
Thospho-LKK	Let Anti-Rabbit 1g0, norseradish peroxidase
	linked whole antibody from donkey
Dilution: 1:2000	
	Dilution: 1:5000
	Incubation time: 45 minutes
Incubation time: overnight	incubation time. 45 minutes
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
Manufacturer. Cen Signaling Technology,	
catalogue #4370, Danvers, MA	

Table 2 Continued. Summary of target proteins for western blot analysis

Total-ERK	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
Dilution: 1:1000	linked whole antibody from donkey
Incubation time: 1 hour	Dilution: 1:2500
Mar fortune Cill Classifier To both	Incubation time: 45 minutes
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology,	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
catalogue #9102, Danvers, MA	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
Phospho-Akt	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
Dilution: 1:1000	linked whole antibody from donkey
Incubation time: overnight	Dilution: 1:2500
	Incubation time: 45 minutes
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
March et aus Call Charalter Technolog	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology,	
catalogue #9271, Danvers, MA	
Total-Akt	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
	linked whole antibody from donkey
Dilution: 1:1000	Dilations 1/2500
	Dilution: 1:2500
Incubation time: 1 hour	Incubation time: 45 minutes
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology,	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
catalogue #4691, Danvers, MA	

Table 2 Continued. Summary of target proteins for western blot analysis

β-actin	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
Dilution: 1:1000	linked whole antibody from donkey Dilution: 1:2500
Incubation time: 1 hour	Incubation time: 45 minutes
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology,	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
catalogue #4967, Danvers, MA	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA

Statistical Analysis

Values are presented as mean \pm s.e. of the mean. Experiments were repeated three times. Statistical analyses were performed between treatment groups except as noted. For all tests, GraphPad Prism 7.0 software was used (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA), and P<0.05 was considered statistically significant. Results were compared using either a Mann-Whitney U Test or Student's T Test.

Results

The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibition on proliferation

Cellular proliferation was assessed in HepG2 and SNU-449 liver cancer cells exposed to visfatin with or without an LY, PD, or both inhibitors for 96 hours. HepG2 cells exposed to visfatin promoted cellular proliferation by 42% when compared to control (p<0.05) (Figure 7A). The addition of the LY and PD suppressed cellular proliferation by 2-fold and almost 3-fold respectively when compared to visfatin (p<0.05). When both inhibitors when added, proliferation was suppressed to levels similar to that of LY as a single agent. SNU-449 cells exposed to visfatin increased cellular proliferation by 52% (p<0.05) (Figure 7B). The addition of the PI3K inhibitor suppressed proliferation by 2-fold (p<0.05). Further, the ERK inhibitor did not suppresses cellular differentiation but had a value similar to that of visfatin. When both inhibitors were used the effect was similar to that of visfatin with LY.

The effect of PI3K and ERK inhibition on lipogenesis

One of the key hallmarks of cancer is the activation of de novo lipogenesis. This process can occur even in the presence of an adequate lipid supply in the body. HepG2 and SNU-449 liver cancer cells exposed to visfatin with or without an Akt inhibitor, ERK inhibitor, or both inhibitors showed no overall difference (Figure 8A/B). These data suggest that the liver cancer cells are receiving energy from another source.

The effect of PI3Kand ERK inhibitors on ROS production

The production of reactive oxygen species can lead to abnormalities in the structure and function of the liver.⁴⁹ HepG2 and SNU-449 liver cancer cells were exposed to visfatin with or without LY, PD, or both inhibitors. In the HepG2 cell line there was no difference between the control and the conditions exposed to the inhibitors (Figure 9A). In SNU-449 cells, the addition of visfatin increased ROS production by 13% compared to control (p<0.05) (Figure 9B). The addition of LY decreased ROS production by 29% compared to SNU-449 cells exposed to visfatin (p<0.05) (Figure 9B). When the ERK inhibitor was added the level of ROS production was similar to that of visfatin. Further, the addition of both inhibitors reduced ROS production to a level similar to LY.

The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibition on MMP-9 secretion

To determine MMP-9 secretion, cells were exposed to visfatin \pm PD, LY, or both inhibitors. The trend for both HepG2 and SNU-449 cells is almost identical (Figure 10 A/B). Visfatin increased MMP-9 secretion significantly compared to control (p<0.05). The addition of Akt, ERK, or both inhibitors decreased MMP-9 secretion to levels similar to that of control.

PI3K and ERK inhibitors suppress liver cancer cell invasion

Cancerous cells can invade into local tissues and eventually metastasize to other parts of the body. HepG2 cells exposed to visfatin increased invasive capacity by 36% compared to control (p<0.05) (Figure 11A). The addition of the LY, PD, or both inhibitors reduced the invasive capacity by 38%, 58%, and 53% respectively. SNU-449 cells exposed to visfatin increased the invasive capacity by 33% compared to control (Figure 11B). The addition of the inhibitors had the same trend with a decrease in invasive capacity compared to visfatin. These data suggest that visfatin contributes to the invasive capacity of liver cancer cells and the addition of LY and PD are useful in decreasing the invasiveness of liver cancer.

Visfatin and resistin signaling

Protein levels of phospho-ERK and phospho-Akt were measured to determine that these pathways are involved visfatin-induced liver cancer. FASN was also assessed due to its role in lipid synthesis and β -catenin has a role in cell-cell adhesion. SNU-449 cells treated with visfatin increased phospho-ERK and LY did not inhibit these results, but this was not seen with HepG2 cells. As anticipated, resistin +PD decreased phospho-ERK in HepG2 and SNU-449 cells. Both cells lines treated with visfatin increased the phosphorylation of Akt and as expected visfatin + LY decreased active Akt. in HepG2 and SNU-449. Surprisingly, the combination of resistin + PD + LY did not decrease the phosphorylation of Akt. In SNU-449 but not HepG2, visfatin increased b-catenin protein levels and LY decreased visfatin-induced β -catenin. However, visfatin + PD was more effective in suppressing the effect of visfatin on β -catenin protein levels in SNU-449.

Interestingly, HepG2 cells treated with visfatin + LY + PD did not result in lower protein levels of β -catenin. Visfatin increased FASN and the combination of LY + PD was more effective in inhibiting visfatin-induced FASN expression (Figure 6).

Discussion

Previous research has shown that phosphorylation of Akt and ERK were elevated by treatment with visfatin.⁴³ The Akt pathway is activated by phosphorylation and induces cell proliferation and survival of cancer cells.⁴³ The ERK pathway is also activated through phosphorylation in response to numerous growth factors.⁴³ Studies have shown that these kinase signaling pathways are involved in various cancers including liver cancer.^{5,14,15,16,21} Additional research would determine if inhibition of kinase signaling would suppresses visfatin-induced liver cancer progression.

The results from this *in vitro* study suggest that Akt and ERK signaling pathways are involved in visfatin-associated liver cancer. Cancer metabolism centers around oncogenes being able to rewire cellular metabolism to go through increased growth and division.⁵⁰ HepG2 cells exposed to visfatin significantly increased cellular growth compared to the control and the addition of the inhibitors greatly suppressed proliferation. SNU-449 cells demonstrated the same trend with the exception of the ERK inhibitor. The addition of the ERK inhibitor had similar levels of cellular proliferation as visfatin without any inhibitors. This may be due to inherent higher levels ERK due to KRAs mutation in SNU-449 cells. Studies have shown that some ERK mutations might be resistant to MEK inhibitors.⁵¹

Excessive accumulation of lipids can cause lipotoxicity, cell dysfunction, and changes in metabolic pathways.⁵² This is a major risk factor for the development of fatty liver disease and hepatocellular carcinomas.⁵² HepG2 and SNU-449 liver cancer cells exposed to visfatin with or without an PI3K/Akt inhibitor, ERK inhibitor, or both inhibitors showed no overall difference in lipogenesis. This suggests that if cells are not accumulating lipids they must be breaking them down. Lipolysis promotes the mobilization of fuel from the adipose tissue to peripheral tisses.⁵² This trend continues in the case of ROS. Oxidative stress is associated with the development of hepatocellular carcinoma because the body is being stimulated by free radicals from ROS.⁵³ This process leads to DNA damage and abnormal protein expression.⁵³ Studies have shown that patients with hepatocellular carcinoma have an increase in oxidative DNA damage.⁵³ HepG2 cells exposed to visfatin along with ERK and PI3K/Akt inhibitors did not demonstrate difference in ROS production. SNU-449 cells exposed to visfatin had a modest increase in ROS production compared to control. The addition of the PI3K/Akt inhibitor reduced ROS levels similar to the control but the addition of the ERK inhibitor had no effect on reducing ROS levels. This may also indicate that ERK is constitutively active in this cell line.

Extracellular matrix metalloproteases are critical for the invasive capacity of tumors.⁵⁴ MMP-9 secretion in HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were significantly increased when cells were exposed to visfatin compared to control and MMP-9 secretion decreased with addition of the inhibitors. HepG2 and SNU-449 cells significantly increased in invasive capacity when exposed to visfatin. The addition of the inhibitors reduced

invasiveness to that of the control in both cell lines. Based on our results we can conclude that Akt and ERK are critical in visfatin-induced liver cancer progression.

SNU-449 cells treated with visfatin increased phospho-ERK, but the addition of LY did not inhibit these results, but this trend was not observed with HepG2. Resistin + PD decreased phospho-ERK in HepG2 and SNU-449 cells. Both cells lines treated with visfatin increased the phosphorylation of Akt and as expected visfatin + LY decreased active Akt. Surprisingly, the combination of resistin + PD + LY did not decrease the phosphorylation of Akt. There may be a compensatory mechanism in place that allows PD to be effective even in the presence of LY. In SNU-449 cells, visfatin increased β -catenin protein levels and LY decreased visfatin -induced β -catenin but the addition of PD was more effective in suppressing the effect of visfatin on β -catenin protein levels. HepG2 cells treated with visfatin + LY + PD did not result in lower protein levels of β -catenin. There may be crosstalk between the two inhibitors allowing for the expression of β -catenin.

Collectively, we propose that Akt and ERK pathways are key in the development of visfatin-induced liver cancer. The limitation of this study is that it was correlative. Future *in vitro* studies aim to look at the mechanism in which Akt and ERK inhibitors are modifying physiological processes that were assessed.



В.



A.

Α.



Figure 8. The role of visfatin in lipogenesis in liver cancer cells. A. HepG2 cells were cultured with treatments for 24 hours. B. SNU-449 cells were exposed to treatments for 24 hours. Oil Red O staining was used to visualize lipid accumulation in liver cancer cells. Cells were distained and absorbance was used to measure lipid accumulation in liver cancer cells. Data shown represents the average of at least three independent experiments. Different letters indicate significant differences between experimental conditions, P < 0.05.



Figure 9. The differential effects of visfatin on ROS production. A. HepG2 and B. SNU-449 cells were cultured with visfatin or resistin. After 24 hours, cells were labeled with DCFDA (20uM) and then analyzed on a fluorescent plate reader. Different letters indicate significant differences between experimental conditions, P < 0.05.



Β.

A.

HepG2 and B. SNU-449 cells were conditioned for 1 hour with treatments. After an hour, cells were washed and replaced with serum-free media (SFM) for 24 hours. This conditioned media was analyzed by ELISA assay. Different letters indicate significant differences between experimental conditions, P < 0.05





Figure 11. The differential effects of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibition in visfatininduced invasion. A. HepG2 and B. SNU-449 cells were seeded in BD Biocoat Matrigel Chambers with treatments and FBS was used as a chemoattractant (in the lower chamber). After 24 hours, cells were fixed, stained, and dissolved. 100ul of dissolution was measured using optical densitometry. Representative images of cells that migrated through the membrane (lower panel) were captured using Cytation 5. Data shown represents the average of at least three independent experiments. Different letters indicate significant differences between experimental conditions, P < 0.05.



Figure 12. The effects of PD and LY on protein expression. HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were cultured in experimental conditions for 15 minutes. Western blot analysis was carried out with antiphospho-ERK, anti-ERK, antiphospho-Akt, anti-Akt, anti- β -catenin, anti-FASN, and anti-actin.

IV: INHIBITION OF KINASE SIGNALING IN RESISTIN-INDUCED LIVER CANCER

Abstract

Resistin is located in monocytes and macrophages of adipose tissue.²⁰ This adipocytokine is an important link between obesity, inflammation, insulin resistance, and cancer risk.²⁰ Pathways that resistin are known to be involved include but are not limited to mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) and extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK).¹⁶ The ERK pathway promotes cellular proliferation, migration, survival of cancer cells, and tumor progression.⁴¹ The Akt pathway is known to be up-regulated in many cancers including liver cancer.⁴¹ Studies have yet to determine whether inhibition of kinase signaling will suppress resistin-induced liver cancer progression. Using an *in vitro* model, HepG2 and SNU-449 liver cancer cells were exposed to resistin ± ERK, Akt, or both inhibitors. The following physiological parameters were assessed: cellular proliferation, ROS, lipogenesis, invasion, MMP, and lactate dehydrogenase activity. The inhibition of kinase signaling suppressed most of these parameters. These physiological changes corresponded with decreased phosphorylated Akt and ERK, CAP1, pyruvate dehydrogenase, pyruvate kinase, and FASN. We describe the effect of Akt and ERK inhibitors to determine if inhibition suppresses resistin-induced liver cancer progression.

Introduction

The American Cancer Society estimates that there were 40,710 new cases of liver cancer in 2017 and 28,920 of those cases resulted in death.¹ Liver cancer is considered one of the most lethal cancers with a relatively low survival rate.⁸ Also, liver cancer is

one of the few cancers that have had an increase in incidence and mortality within the last two decades.¹ This trend is comparable to our current obesity epidemic with more than one third of adults being obese.^{3,8} Studies have shown through an adipokine array that there is an increase in the expression of resistin in an obesity-induced liver cancer phenotype.⁵

Resistin is an adipocytokine that is involved not only in insulin resistance but glucose homeostasis and inflammation which tie into diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and obesity.²⁰ Also, there is an association between resistin and an increased risk of cancer.²⁰ Resistin may mediate its effects through the Akt and ERK signaling pathways.⁴³ The Akt pathway is activated by phosphorylation and induces cell proliferation and survival of cancer cells.⁴³ The ERK pathway is also activated through phosphorylation in response to numerous growth factors.⁴³ Additionally, resistin has been shown to induce proliferation in cancer cells but this effect was repressed when Akt and ERK inhibitors were added.^{20,43} We hypothesize that the inhibition of Akt and the ERK pathways will suppress resistin induced liver cancer progression. The effect of inhibiting ERK and Akt signaling on resistin-induced liver cancer progression will be assessed. These kinase signaling pathways have been shown to promote cell proliferation, migration, survival along with tumor progression, ROS production, and invasion.^{5,21} Studies have shown that Akt and ERK kinase signaling pathways are involved in various cancers including liver cancer.5,19,21

Materials and Methods

Cell Culture and Reagents

Human liver cancer cells (HepG2) were purchased from the American Type Tissue Culture Collection (ATCC) (Rockville, MD). Cells were cultured in DMEM containing penicillin and streptomycin plus 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). SNU-449 liver cancer cells were purchased from ATCC. Cells were cultured in RPMI containing penicillin and streptomycin plus 10% FBS. Cells were maintained at 37° C in a 5% (v/v) CO₂ humidified incubator. Cells were treated with 10 µM Akt inhibitor ly290004 (Sigma Aldrich) and 10 µM ERK inhibitor PD98059 (Cell Signaling) 1 hour prior to the addition of 50 ng/ml visfatin. The concentrations of the PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors were selected based on the previous literature with the use of these inhibitors in human cancer cells.^{32,44,45}The concentration of resistin was selected based on previous studies that measured resistin levels in obese or diabetic individuals.^{55,56,57}The intention of using these concentrations is to closely recapitulate the physiological levels observed in obese individuals.

Cellular Proliferation

Cellular proliferation was assessed by MTT dye conversion to formazan and analyzed in a plate reader at 540nm. 1 X 10^4 cells were seeded per well in a 96-well plate overnight. After 24 hours, cells were washed with PBS and treated with one of the following experimental conditions: 2.5% charcoal stripped media + DMSO (vehicle control), 2.5 % charcoal stripped media + resistin, 2.5% charcoal stripped media + resistin + PI3K/Akt inhibitor (LY), 2.5% charcoal stripped media + resistin + ERK

inhibitor (PD), and 2.5% charcoal stripped media + resistin + LY + PD for 72 h. Charcoal stripped media was selected because liver cancer cells grow too quickly in complete media. After 72 h, 20 μ l of MTT reagent (5 mg/ml) was added to each well. After 2 hours, MTT reagent was aspirated and 100 μ l of DMSO was added to each well and shaken for 10 minutes. Absorbance was measured using Cytation 5.

Reactive Oxygen Species Assay

Intracellular levels reactive oxygen species (ROS) were assessed using a cellpermeable DCFH-DA probe. HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were seeded in a dark, clear bottom 96-well microplate. On day 2 cells were exposed to the following experimental conditions: SFM + 5% FBS + DMSO (vehicle control), SFM + 5% FBS + resistin, SFM + 5% FBS + resistin + LY, SFM + 5% FBS + resistin + PD, SFM+5% FBS + resistin + LY + PD. On day 3, the media was removed, and cells were washed with 1X buffer, and incubated for 45 minutes in 1X buffer containing 25 μ M DCFDA at 37°C. Fluorescent intensity was measured at excitation wavelength 485 nm and emission wavelength 529 nm with Cytation 5.

Oil Red O Staining

Approximately 30,000 HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were seeded in a 24-well plate. After 24 hours, cells were washed with PBS and treated with one of the following conditions: SFM + 5% FBS + DMSO (vehicle control), SFM + 5% FBS + resistin, SFM + 5% FBS + resistin + LY, SFM + 5% FBS + resistin + PD, SFM+5% FBS + resistin + LY + PD. After 48 hours, the media was removed, washed with PBS, fixed for 10 min with 10% formalin, and washed with 60% isopropanol. Cells were stained with filtered oil red O solution for 10 minutes. Lipid droplets were imaged using Cytation 5 (Winooski, VT) at 20X magnification. Lipid droplets were eluted and quantified using 100% isopropanol. Absorbance was measured at 500 nm with Cytation 5.

Invasion Assay

The Corning BioCoat Matrigel Invasion Chamber assay was utilized to assess if the neutralizing antibodies targeting visfatin and resistin decreased the invasive capacity of the HepG2 and SNU-449 cells.²⁶ The matrigel chamber were hydrated in serum free media for 2 hours prior to seeding. After the chambers were rehydrated, cells were seeded on the upper side of the chamber at 80,000 cells per well in a 24-well plate with one of the following treatments: SFM + 5% FBS + DMSO (vehicle control), SFM + 5% FBS + resistin, SFM + 5% FBS + resistin + LY, SFM + 5% FBS + resistin + PD, SFM+5% FBS + resistin + LY + PD. The chemoattractant, 10% FBS, was added to the well below the chamber. After 48 hours cells were stained with crystal violet, and images were captured using Cytation 5. After imaging, crystal violet was dissolved using a distain solution (methanol, acetic acid, and water), and absorbance was measured with the Cytation 5 microplate reader. Cell counts were conducted after 48 hours and there were no statistical differences observed between treatment groups (data not shown).

ELISA for MMP-9

To determine MMP-9 secretion from cells, HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were exposed to the experimental conditions for 1 hour. After 1 hour, cells were washed with PBS and SFM was added to each well to capture MMP-9 secretion. The Thermo Fisher (Waltham, MA) ELISA kit was used to measure MMP-9 secretion.²⁷

Lactate Dehydrogenase Activity

To determine lactate dehydrogenase activity, HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were plated at 10,000 cells per well in a 96-well plate. The Sigma-Aldrich Lactate Dehydrogenase Activity Assay Kit was used, according to the manufacturer's protocol to measure the activity of lactate dehydrogenase.⁵⁸

Western Blot Analysis

HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were plated at 400,000 cells per well in a 6-well plate. After 24 hours, the cells were serum starved for six hours. The cells were then exposed to their respective experimental conditions for 15 minutes. After the treatment, cells were harvested using lysis buffer (5 ml glycerol, 3.14 ml TRIS 1M pH 6.8, 5 ml 10% SDS, 36.86 ml ddH₂O) and quantified using Pierce BCA protein assay kit.²⁸ Fifty μ g of protein lysate was electrophoresed through a 10% gel (4 ml H₂O, 3.3 ml 30% acrylamide mix, 2.5 ml 1.5 M TRIS, 0.1 ml 10% SDS, 0.1 ml 10% ammonium persulfate (APS), 8 μ l TEMED along with the stacking gel (3.4 ml ddH₂O, 0.83 ml 30% acrylamide mix, 0.63 ml 1.0 M TRIS, 0.05 ml 10% SDS, 0.05 ml 10% APS and 6 μ l TEMED). It was then transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane and blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin for 45 minutes. After measuring phosphorylated proteins, blots were stripped with Restore Plus western blot stripping buffer before measuring total levels of protein. Target proteins for western blot analysis are listed in Table 3.

Table 3. Summary of target proteins for western blot analysis

Primary Antibody	Secondary Antibody
FASN (C.60.10)	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
	linked whole antibody from donkey
Dilution: 1:1000	
	Dilution: 1:2500
Incubation time: 1 hour	Insultation time: 45 minutes
	incubation time. 45 minutes
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
Manufacturer: Thermo Fisher Scientific, catalogue	
#MA5-14887, Waltham, MA	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
Phospho EPK	ECI Anti Pabbit IgG horseredish perovidese
r hospho-EKK	LCL Anti-Kabbit IgO, noiserautsii peroxidase
	linked whole antibody from donkey
Dilution: 1:2000	
	Dilution: 1:5000
	Incubation time: 45 minutes
Incubation time: overnight	
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
	catalogue #NA934V Pittsburg PA
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology,	
catalogue #4370, Danvers, MA	
Total-ERK	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
D'1 (1	
Dilution: 1:1000	linked whole antibody from donkey
	Dilution: 1:2500
Incubation time: 1 hour	Incubation time: 45 minutes
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology,	
	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
catalogue #9102, Danvers, MA	

Table 3 Continued. Summary of target proteins for western blot analysis

Phoenho Akt	ECL Anti Pabbit IgC horseredish perovidese
Phospho-Akt	ECL Anti-Raddit 1gG, norseradish peroxidase
Dilution: 1:1000	linked whole antibody from donkey
	Dilution: 1:2500
Incubation time: overnight	Incubation time: 45 minutes
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology,	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
catalogue #9271, Danvers, MA	
Total-Akt	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
Dilution: 1:1000	linked whole antibody from donkey
	Dilution: 1:2500
Incubation time: 1 hour	Incubation time: 45 minutes
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology,	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
catalogue #4691, Danvers, MA	
β-actin	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
Dilution: 1:1000	linked whole antibody from donkey
	Dilution: 1:2500
Incubation time: 1 hour	Incubation time: 45 minutes
Manufacturer: Cell Signaling Technology	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
Manaraturer. Cen Signaling Technology,	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
catalogue #4967, Danvers, MA	
	1

Table 3 Continued. Summary of target proteins for western blot analysis

CAP1	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
Dilution 1:250	linked whole antibody from donkey
	Dilution: 1:1250
Incubation time: overnight	Incubation time: 45 minutes
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
Manufacturer: Thermo Fisher Scientific, catalogue	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
#PA5-56354, Waltham, MA	
Pyruvate Dehydrogenase	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
D'1 d'a 1,1000	linked whole antibody from donkey
	Dilution: 1:2500
Incubation time: overnight	Incubation time: 45 minutes
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
Manufacturer: Thermo Fisher Scientific, catalogue	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
#PA5-17190, Waltham, MA	
Pyruvate Kinase	ECL Anti-Rabbit IgG, horseradish peroxidase
Dilution 1:1000	linked whole antibody from donkey
	Dilution: 1:2500
Incubation time: overnight	Incubation time: 45 minutes
	Manufacturer: GE Healthcare UK Limited
Manufacturer: Thermo Fisher Scientific, catalogue	catalogue #NA934V, Pittsburg, PA
#PA5-13790, Waltham, MA	
Statistical Analysis

Values are presented as mean \pm s.e. of the mean. Experiments were repeated three times. Statistical analyses were performed between treatment groups except as noted. For all tests, GraphPad Prism 7.0 software was used (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA), and P<0.05 was considered statistically significant. Results were compared using either a Mann-Whitney U test or student's *t* test.

Results

The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibition on proliferation

To assess for cellular proliferation, HepG2 and SNU-449 liver cancer cells were exposed to resistin with or without an LY, PD, or both for 72 hours. HepG2 cells exposed to resistin exhibited similar levels of cellular proliferation as control. The addition of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors resulted in a 72% decrease and a 2-fold decrease in cellular proliferation respectively (p<0.05) (Figure 13A). SNU-449 cells expose to resistin increased proliferation by 9% compared to control (p<0.05) (Figure 13B). The addition of the LY, PD, or both inhibitors decreased cellular proliferation by 55%,18%, and 44% respectively.

The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors on lipogenesis

The process of lipogenesis provides energy to cancer cells thereby leading to an increase in cell division and overall survival enhancing tumor growth.⁵⁹ HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were exposed to resistin with or without LY or PD for 48 hours. In HepG2 cells, the addition of resistin decreased lipogenesis by 19% (p<0.05) (Figure 14A). When the inhibitors were added there was a slight increase in lipogenesis compared to control, but it was not statistically significant. In SNU-449 cells, the addition of resistin also decreased lipogenesis (Figure 14B). Further, the ERK inhibitor was the only condition to statistically decrease lipogenesis.

The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors on ROS production

Almost all cancers have been found to have an increase in ROS production which promotes tumor development and progression. Although there is an increase in ROS, there is also an increase in the levels of antioxidant proteins expressed by the tumor cells to detoxify from ROS production.⁶⁰ HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were exposed to resistin with or without LY or PD for 24 hours. In both cell lines, there was a trend for resistin to increase ROS production compared to control, but these findings were not statistically significant (Figure 15A/B). Further, the addition of PI3K/Akt, ERK, or both inhibitors decreased ROS production, but these results were not statistically significant.

PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors suppress the invasive capacity of liver cancer cells

Matrigel invasion chambers were used to assess the invasive capacity of liver cancer cells exposed to resistin with or without LY, PD, or both inhibitors. In HepG2 cells, resistin increased invasion by 36% compared to control (p<0.05) (Figure 16A). The addition LY, PD, or both inhibitors suppressed the invasive capacity by 39%, 57%, and 66% respectively. SNU-449 cells exposed to resistin increased invasion by 35% compared to control (p<0.05) (Figure 16B). The SNU-449 cells had the same trend as the HepG2 cells with a decrease in invasive capacity in the conditions exposed to LY, PD, or both inhibitors (p<0.05).

The effect of resistin on LDH

Certain cancer cells shift from using mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation to pyruvate reduced to lactate for energy. Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) is an enzyme that catalyzes interconversion of pyruvate and lactate.⁵⁸ In HepG2 cells, resistin significantly increased LDH activity compared to control (p<0.05) (Figure 17A). The addition of LY, PD, and both inhibitors were all statistically significant compared to control (p<0.05). The trend is almost identical in the SNU-449 cells. Resistin significantly increased LDH activity compared to control (p<0.05) (Figure 17B). The addition of LY reduced LDH activity but was not found to be statistically significant (p<0.05). The addition of PD and combination of inhibitors significantly decreased LDH activity compared to control (p<0.05).

The effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibition on MMP-9 secretion

To determine MMP-9 secretion, cells were exposed to resistin \pm ERK, Akt, or both inhibitors. In HepG2 cells, there were no differences in the experimental groups (Figure 18A). In SNU-449 cells, resistin promoted MMP secretion compared to control (p<0.05) (Figure 18B). Resistin + LY reduced MMP secretion to levels similar to control. Resistin + PD and Resistin plus both inhibitors significantly reduced MMP secretion compared to resistin (p<0.05)

Resistin signaling

Protein levels of phospho-ERK and phospho-Akt were measured to ensure that these pathways are in fact involved in resistin-induced liver cancer progression. Fatty acid synthase catalyzes the final steps of de novo lipogenesis and CAP1 was measured

because it is a functional receptor for resistin. Pyruvate is the end product of glycolysis and drives many pathways in the TCA cycle. The enzyme pyruvate dehydrogenase goes through an irreversible reaction in which pyruvate and NAD+ are converted into acetyl-CoA and NADH. From there the acetyl-CoA can enter the TCA cycle. Pyruvate kinase is involved in the last step of glycolysis in which phosphoenolpyruvate is converted to pyruvate. In HepG2 cells but not SNU-449, resistin increased phospho-ERK. Resistin + LY did not decrease phospho-ERK but as expected, resistin + PD did decrease phospho-ERK. Further, the combination of resistin + LY + PD decreased resistin-induced phospho-ERK in HepG2 cells and SNU-449. Both HepG2 and SNU-449 cells exposed to resistin increased the phosphorylation of Akt. As anticipated, resistin + LY suppressed the phosphorylation of Akt while PD had no effect. Only HepG2 cells exposed to resistin increased CAP1 and FASN while the addition of LY or PD did not change protein levels of either CAP1 or FASN. HepG2 cells treated with resistin increased PDH but this difference was not observed in SNU-449. Resistin + LY was the most effective in decreasing PDH compared to treatment with PD in HepG2 and SNU-449. The combination of PD and LY also decreased PDH which may be due to LY rather than PD. In HepG2 cells, resistin increased PK and the addition of LY or PD did not inhibit this increase. Lastly, differences in PK protein levels were not observed in SNU-449 cells (Figure 7 A/B).

Discussion

The Akt pathway is activated by phosphorylation and induces cell proliferation and survival of cancer cells.⁴³ The ERK pathway is also activated through phosphorylation in response to numerous growth factors.⁴³ These kinase signaling

pathways have been shown to promote cell proliferation, migration, survival along with tumor progression, ROS production, and invasion.^{5,21} Additionally, resistin has been shown to induce proliferation in cancer cells but this effect was repressed when PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors were added.^{20,43} Additional research would aid in our understanding of the effectiveness of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors in a resistin-induced liver cancer phenotype.

The results from this *in vitro* study suggest that Akt and ERK signaling pathways are involved in resistin-induced liver cancer. The ability of cancer cells to sustain proliferation is a fundamental trait.¹³ In HepG2 cells, the addition of the PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors reduced cellular proliferation and the addition of both inhibitors was most effective. In the SNU-449 cells, resistin increased proliferation more so than control and the addition of the PI3K/Akt inhibitor significantly reduced cellular proliferation. The addition of the ERK inhibitor was not as effective and the combination treatment was similar to the cells treated with the PI3K/Akt inhibitor alone. This may be due to KRAs mutation in SNU-449 cells which express higher levels of ERK.

Lipogenesis and fatty acid oxidation are important mechanisms in the context of liver damage since the liver is the central organ in lipogenesis.⁶¹ In HepG2 cells the addition of resistin decreases lipogenesis compared to control. The addition of the inhibitors slightly increased lipogenesis compared to resistin. In SNU-449 cells, the trend continues with resistin not promoting lipogenesis as much as control and inhibitors slightly increasing lipogenesis except the ERK inhibitor which significantly reduced lipogenesis. Other studies have shown that resistin promotes lipid accumulation.⁶² Although we did not observe these effects, it may be due to a switch from lipogenesis to

lipolysis. However, this study did not measure lipolysis but should be integrated in future studies. The production of reactive oxygen species modulates a multitude of cell signaling pathways which are mediated through a number of transcription factors, cytokines, and enzymes that are involved in inflammation, tumor survival, proliferation, invasion, angiogenesis, and cancer metastasis.⁶³ In both HepG2 and SNU-449 cells there was a trend for an increase in resistin and a slight decrease in cells exposed to ERK and PI3K/Akt inhibitors but the results were not significant.

High levels of MMP may correlate with an increase in invasive capacity. There was no difference in MMP secretion in HepG2 cells. In SNU-449 cells, resistin significantly promoted invasive capacity compared to control and the addition of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors significantly decreased the invasive capacity of the cells. To our knowledge, there is no research thus far that investigates the effect of PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors on MMP secretion in resistin.

In HepG2 cells, resistin increased phospho-ERK, LY did not decrease phospho-ERK, but as expected, resistin + PD did decrease phospho-ERK. The combination of resistin + LY + PD decreased resistin-induced phospho-ERK in HepG2 cells and SNU-449. Resistin + LY suppressed the phosphorylation of Akt while PD had no effect in either cell line. Only HepG2 cells exposed to resistin increased CAP1 and FASN while the addition of LY or PD did not change protein levels. HepG2 cells treated with resistin increased PDH but this trend was not observed in SNU-449. Resistin + LY was the most effective in decreasing PDH compared to treatment with PD in HepG2 and SNU-449. The combination of PD and LY also decreased PDH which may be due to LY rather than PD. In HepG2 cells, resistin increased PK and the addition of LY or PD did not inhibit

this increase. Lastly, differences in PK protein levels were not observed in SNU-449 cells. Future studies should do a dose response with resistin at various time points to determine if resistin will eventually increase PK. Two glycolytic enzymes, PK and PDH were assessed, along with Lactate dehydrogenase activity to determine if there is an increase in glucose uptake and fermentation of glucose to lactate.⁶ Resistin significantly increased LDH activity compared to control. This suggests a switch from using mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation to pyruvate reduced to lactate for energy, The Warburg Effect.⁶ Protein levels of PK and PDH also increased in the presence of resistin. This indicates that more acetyl-CoA is being made which is needed to supply the cell with NADH. NADH is necessary for the conversion of pyruvate to lactate.

The results of this *in vitro* study identify PI3K/Akt and ERK as being critical pathways for resistin-induced liver cancer. Overall, resistin promotes cellular proliferation, ROS, MMP, invasion and LDH activity. The limitation of this study is that it is correlative but necessary to determine the role of Akt and ERK inhibition on resistin-induced liver cancer. Future *in vitro* studies aim to look at the mechanism in which PI3K/Akt and ERK inhibitors are modifying physiological processes that were assessed.





Β.

Α.

cultured with treatments for 24 hours. B. SNU-449 cells were exposed to treatments for 24 hours. Oil Red O staining was used to visualize lipid accumulation in liver cancer cells. Cells were distained and absorbance was used to measure lipid accumulation in liver cancer cells. Data shown represents the average of at least three independent experiments. Different letters indicate significant differences between experimental conditions, P < 0.05.



P < 0.05.







A.



Figure 18. The differential effects of PI3K/Akt and ERK suppression on MMP secretion. A. HepG2 and B. SNU-449 cells were conditioned for 1 hour with treatments. After an hour, cells were washed and replaced with serum-free media (SFM) for 24 hours. This conditioned media was analyzed by ELISA assay. Different letters indicate significant differences between experimental conditions, P < 0.05.



Figure 19: The effects of PD and LY on protein expression. HepG2 and SNU-449 cells were cultured in experimental conditions for 15 minutes. Western blot analysis was carried out with antiphospho-ERK, anti-ERK, antiphospho-Akt, anti-Akt, anti-CAP1, anti-FASN, anti-PDH, anti-PK, and anti-actin.

V. IMPLICATIONS FOR FUTURE STUDIES

In the study outlined in Chapter 2, obesity increased ROS, MMP, invasion, ERK, and Akt compared to normal weight. Visfatin contributed to an increase in MMP, ROS, and invasion in HepG2 cells. Visfatin inhibition was effective in decreasing the phosphorylation of Akt in a less aggressive cell line. This suggests that an intervention with a visfatin antibody would be more effective in the earlier stages of liver tumorigenesis. Resistin was the most effective in inhibiting phosphorylation of Akt and ERK along with ROS, MMP, and invasion. This may suggest that resistin inhibition may be important in multiple stages of liver cancer progression. Visfatin and resistin play an important role in promoting an invasive liver cancer phenotype. Studies have suggested that the activation of NF-kB or STAT3 can promote invasion and overall metastasis. Future studies can determine if visfatin or resistin mediate their effects through STAT3 or NF-kB activation.

In the study outlined in Chapter 3, visfatin treatment increased cell viability, MMP, invasion, and phosphorylation of Akt. Inhibition of PI3k/Akt was effective in decreasing cell viability, ROS, invasion, phospho-Akt, phospho-ERK, and β -catenin. However, there were differential effects which were cell line specific. This suggests that visfatin has multiple effects on physiological parameters and protein expression which are mediated through either Akt or ERK inhibition. In summary, these results suggest that inhibition of the visfatin protein itself may be more effective than targeting its downstream signaling. Future research will expand, mechanistically, on how visfatin mediates invasion. Visfatin may bind to IR or IGF-1R which can activate Akt/ERK along

with NF-kB and initiate gene transcription for genes associated with invasion and progression in liver cancer cells.

In Chapter 4, resistin treatment increased cell viability, invasion, LDH activity, PDH, PK, ERK, Akt, FAS, and CAP1. These results were not consistent in both cell lines which suggests that differences in mutations that contribute to the development of liver cancer might determine the importance of resistin and its downstream targets. In general, inhibiting LY in the aggressive cell line, SNU-449, was more effective than PD in cells exposed to resistin. In summary, this suggests that resistin and Akt signaling is important in liver cancer progression evidenced by a decrease in invasion, cell viability, and changes in cellular energetics. Resistin was shown to be a classic example of the Warburg Effect. Future studies aim to look at the underlying mechanism in the glycolytic pathway leading to an increase in lactate production.

Collectively, in an *in vitro* model of obesity and adipocytokine depletion, visfatin and resistin did not contribute to proliferation and lipogenesis. However, as single agents visfatin and resistin increased proliferation and lipogenesis. These results suggest that there are other obesity-related hormones or cytokines mediating these effects. When visfatin and resistin were used as single agents they did not promote ROS or MMP. Although, when obese serum was depleted of visfatin or resistin, ROS and MMP decreased. Therefore, there are other ROS and MMP promoting factors in the serum that work synergistically to promote ROS production and MMP secretion. Among the three studies, visfatin and resistin induced invasion and promoted phosphorylation of Akt and ERK. Future studies should target visfatin and resistin rather than their downstream targets because the inhibition of these adipocytokines was more effective than inhibiting

Akt or ERK. Targeting visfatin and resistin may slow down liver cancer progression because suppressing adipocytokine signaling was found to decrease both Akt and ERK. These findings are important because visfatin and resistin inhibitors could be used in future clinical studies to reduce the impact of obesity on liver cancer progression.

REFERENCES

1. The American Cancer Society. About Liver Cancer.

https://www.cancer.org/cancer/liver-cancer/about.html. Accessed October 21, 2017.

Sun B, Karin M. Obesity, Inflammation and Liver Cancer. *J Hepatol.* 2012;56(3):704-713.

3. CDC. Adult Obesity Facts. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/adult.html. Accessed</u> October 21, 2017.

4. Hontoria P, Matute P, Galilea M, Bustos M, et al. Role of obesity-associated dysfunctional adipose tissue in cancer: A molecular nutrition approach. *BBA Bioenergetics*. 2011:664-678.

5. Miethe C, Nix H, Martin R, Hernandez A.R., Price, R.S. Silibinin Reduces the Impact of Obesity on Invasive Liver Cancer. *Journal of Nutrition and Cancer*. 2017; 1532-7914. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2017.1367935.

6. Jiang B. Aerobic glycolysis and high level of lactate in cancer metabolism and microenvironment. *Genes & Diseases*. 2017;4:25-27.

7. Liu R, Cao J, Gao X, et al. Overall survival of cancer patients with serum lactate dehydrogenase greater than 1000 IU/L. *Tumour Biology*. 2016;37(10):14083-14088. doi:10.1007/s13277-016-5228-2.

8. Hanahan D, Weinberg R. Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. *Cell*.
 2011;144(5):646-674.

9. H Jaeschke. Reactive oxygen and mechanisms of inflammatory liver injury: present concepts. *J Hepatology*. 2012;26:54-74.

10. Muriel P. Role of free radicals in liver diseases. *Hepatol Int.* 2009;3(4):526-536.

11. Chen X, Li L, Wang C, Evert M, et al. Role of fatty acid synthase and do novo lipogenesis in liver cancer development in mice. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 2013;73(7).

12. Calvisi D, Wang C, Ho C, Ladu S, et al. Increased lipogenesis, induced by AKTmTORC1-RPS6 signaling, promotes development of human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gastroenterology*. 2011;140(3):1071-1083.

13. Baenke F, Peck B, Miess H, Schulze A. Hooked on fat: the role of lipid synthesis in cancer metabolism and tumour development. *Dis Model Mech.* 2013;6(6):1353-1363.

14. Dalamaga M, Christodoulatos S. Visfatin, Obesity, and Cancer. *Adipocytokines, Energy Balance, and Cancer.* 2017;12:109-136.

15. Schuster S, Penke M, Gorski T, Gebhardt R, et al. FK866-induced NAMPT inhibition activates AMPK and downregulates mTOR singaling in hepatocarcinoma cells.

16. Ninomiya S, Shimizu M, Imai K, Takai K, et al. Possible role of visfatin in hepatoma progression and the effects of branched-chain amino acids on visfatin-induced proliferation in human hepatoma cells. *Cancer Prev Res.* 2011;4(12):2092-2100.

17. Jamaluddin MS, Weakley SM, Yao Q, Chen C. Resistin: functional roles and therapeutic considerations for cardiovascular disease. *British Journal of Pharmacology*.
2012;165(3):622-632. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01369.x.

18. Zhang Z, Shannon J, Zhang H. Resistin, Obesity, and Cancer. *Adipocytokines, Energy Balance, and Cancer.* 2017;12:187-233.

19. Lee S, Lee HC, Kwon YW, Lee SE, et al. Adenylyl cyclase-associated protein 1 is a receptor for human resistin and mediates inflammatory actions of human monocytes. *Cell Metab.* 2014;19(3):484-497.

20. Luo Z, Zhang Y, Li F, He J, et al.. Resistin induces insulin resistance by both AMPKdependent and AMPK-independent mechanisms in HepG2 cells. *Endocrine*. 2009;36(1):60-69.

21. Wu X, Li Y. Signaling Pathways in Liver Cancer.

http://cdn.intechopen.com/pdfs/27576/InTech-Signaling_pathways_in_liver_cancer.pdf. Accessed October 21, 2017.

22. WCRF International. Liver Cancer Statistics. <u>http://www.wcrf.org/int/cancer-facts-figures/data-specific-cancers/liver-cancer-statistics. Accessed October 21</u>, 2017.

23. GLOBOCAN. Liver Cancer: Estimated Incidence, Mortality and Prevalence Worldwide in 2012. <u>http://globocan.iarc.fr/old/FactSheets/cancers/liver-new.asp.</u> <u>Accessed October 21, 2017.</u>

24. CDC. Liver Cancer. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/liver/index.htm. Accessed October</u> 21, 2017.

25. Alzahrani B, Iseli T, Hebbard L. Non-viral causes of liver cancer: Does obesity led inflammation play a role? *Cancer Letters*. 2014;345(2):223-229.

26. Corning. Corning BioCoat Matrigel Invasion Chamber.

https://www.corning.com/media/jp/cls/documents/jp-

<u>literature/applicationnotej/Matrigel_Invasion_Chamber_6-Experimental_Procedure-2_6-</u> <u>Other-5_Protocol_6-Reference_EN.pdf</u>. Accessed February 2018.

27. ThermoFisher Scientific. MMP9 Human ELISA Kit.

https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/product/BMS2016-2. Accessed February 2018.

28. ThermoFisher Scientific. Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit.

https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/product/23225. Accessed February 2018.

29. Farshchian F, Ramezani Tehrani F, Amirrasouli H, et al. Visfatin and Resistin Serum Levels in Normal-Weight and Obese Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. *International Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*. 2014;12(3):e15503. doi:10.5812/ijem.15503.

30. Dikbas O, Tosun M, Bes C, et, al. Serum levels of visfatin, resistin and adiponectin in patients with psoriatic arthritis and associations with disease severity. *International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases*. 2014; 19(7):672-677.

31. Rayanova, G., Ganeva, S., Todorova, K., et al. Levels Of Resistin And Visfatin In
Patients With Metabolic Syndrome. *Journal of Biomedical and Clinical Research*. 2015;
8(1): 40-45.

32. Feitelson M, Arzumanyan A, Kulathinal R, et al. Sustained proliferation in cancer: Mechanisms and noel therapeutic targets. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*. (2015); 35: S25-S54.

33. Zaidi N, Lupien L, Kuemmerle NB, Kinlaw WB, Swinnen JV, Smans K. Lipogenesis and lipolysis: the pathways exploited by the cancer cells to acquire fatty acids. *Progress in lipid research*. 2013;52(4):585-589. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2013.08.005.

34. Donohue C, Lysaght J, O'Sullivan J, et al. Emerging concepts linking obesity with the hallmarks of cancer. *Trends Endocrinol Metabolism*. 2017;28:46-62.

35. Pelicano, H, Carney, D, Huang P. ROS stress in cancer cells and therapeutic implications. *Science Direct*. 2004; 7(2): 97-110.

36. Nar D, Yaman B, Yilmaz F, et al. Expression of Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 in Predicting Prognosis of Hepatocellular Carcinoma After Liver Transplantation. *Liver Transplantation*. 2010;16:621-630.

37. Coussens LM, Werb Z. Matrix metalloproteinase and the development of cancer. *Chem Biol.* 1996;3:895-904.

38. Littlepage LE, Egeblad M, Werb Z. Coevolution of cancer and stromal cellular responses. *Cancer Cell*. 2005;7:499-500.

39. Hayaska A, Suzuki N, Fujimoto N, et al. Elevated plasma levels of matrix metalloproteinase-9 (92-kd type IV collagenase/gelatinase B) in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology*. 1996;24:1058-1062.

40. Arii S, Mise M, Haranda T, et al. Overexpression of matrix metalloproteinase 9 gene in hepatocellular carcinoma with invasive potential. *Hepatology*. 1996:316-322.

41. Ghasemi R, et al. Multitargeting and antimetastatic potentials of silibinin in human HepG2 and PLC/PRF/5 hepatoma cells. *Nutr Cancer*. 2013;65:590-599.

42. Saddi-Rosa P, Oliveira CS, Giuffrida FM, Reis AF. Visfatin, glucose metabolism and vascular disease: a review of evidence. *Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome*. 2010;2:21. doi:10.1186/1758-5996-2-21.

43. Gholinejad Z, Kheiripour N, Nourbakhsh M, Ilbeigi D, et al. Extracellular NAMPT/Visfatin induces proliferation through ERK1/2 and AKT and inhibits apoptosis in breast cancer cells. *Peptides An International Journal*. 2017;92:9-15.

44. Wu R, Duan L, Cui F, et al. S100A9 promotes human hepatocellular carcinoma cell growth and invasion through RAGE-mediated ERK1/2 and p38 MAPK pathways. *Experimental cell research*. 2015;*334*(2): 228-238.

45. Guo Y, Ma J, Wu L, et al. Hyperthermia-induced NDRG2 upregulation inhibits the invasion of human hepatocellular carcinoma via suppressing ERK1/2 signaling pathway. *PloS one*. 2013;8(4), e61079.

46. El-Shafey EM, El-Naggar GF, Al-Bedewy MM, El-Sorogy H (2012) Is There A
Relationship Between Visfatin Level And Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus In Obese and Non
Obese Patients? J Diabetes Metab S11:001. doi:10.4172/2155-6156.S11-001
47. Filippatosm, T.D., Derdemezis, C.S., Kiortsis, D.N. et al. J Endocrinol Invest (2007)
30: 323. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03346300</u>

48. Miao-Pei Chen, Fu-Mei Chung, Dao-Ming Chang, et al. Elevated Plasma Level of Visfatin/Pre-B Cell Colony-Enhancing Factor in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus, *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, Volume 91, Issue 1, 1 January 2006, Pages 295–299, https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2005-1475

49. Lach H and Michalak A. Oxidative stress as a crucial factor in liver disease. *World J Gastroenterol*, (2014) 20 (25): 8082-8091.

50. Keibler M, Wasylenko, T, Kelleher J, et al. Metabolic requirements for cancer cell proliferation. *Cancer & Metabolism*. 2016;4:16.

 Goetz EM, Ghandi M, Treacy DJ, Wagle N, Garraway LA. ERK Mutations Confer Resistance to Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Pathway Inhibitors. *Cancer research*.
 2014;74(23):7079-7089. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2073.

52. Saponaro C, Gaggini M, Carli F. The subtle balance between lipolysis and lipogenesis: A critical point in metabolic homeostasis. *Nutrients*. 2015;7:9453-9474.

53. Wang Z, Li Z, Ye Y, et al. Oxidative Stress and Liver Cancer: Etiology and Therapeutic Targets. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*. 2016.

Doi:10.1155/2016/7891574.

54. Chen R, Cui J, Xu C, et al. The significance of MMP-9 over MMP-2 in HCC invasiveness and recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma after curative resection.

55. Azuma, K., Katsukawa, F., Oguchi, S., et al. Correlation between Serum Resistin Level and Adiposity in Obese Individuals. *Obesity Research*. 2003;11: 997–1001. doi:10.1038/oby.2003.137 56. Nieva-Vazquez A, Pérez-Fuentes R, Torres-Rasgado E, et al. Serum Resistin Levels Are Associated with Adiposity and Insulin Sensitivity in Obese Hispanic
Subjects. *Metabolic Syndrome and Related Disorders*. 2014;12(2):143-148.

doi:10.1089/met.2013.0118.

57. Akhtar, A., Saeed, M., Shakoor, Q. Relationship of serum resistin and lipid profile in type 2 diabetics. *Pak J Physiol*. 2017;13(2): 3-5.

58. Sigma-Aldrich. Lactate Dehydrogenase Activity Assay Kit. https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/content/dam/sigma-

aldrich/docs/Sigma/Bulletin/1/mak066bul.pdf. Accessed March 2018.

59. Mounier C, Bouraoui L, and Rassart E. Lipogenesis in cancer progression. *International Journal of Oncology*. 2014;485-492.

60. Liou G and Storz P. Reactive oxygen species in cancer. *Free Radic Res.* 2010; 44(5):479-496.

61. Bechmann L, Hannivoort R, Gerken G, et al. The interaction of hepatic lipid glucose metabolism in liver diseases. *Journal of Hepatology*. 2012;56(4): 952-964.

62. Rae C, Graham A. Human resistin promotes macrophage lipid accumulation. *Diabetolgia*. 2016;49(5):1112-1114.

63. Prasad S, Gupta S, Tyagi A. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and cancer: Role of antioxidative nutraceuticals.